FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/18/2018 2:41 PM

SUPREME COURT NO. 96393-2

NO. 49474-4-II

IN THE SUPREME C	COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
ST	TATE OF WASHINGTON,
	Respondent,
	v.
	CLEON MOEN,
	Petitioner.
	ROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE SHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY
The Hor	norable Michael H. Evans, Judge
P	PETITION FOR REVIEW

E. RANIA RAMPERSAD Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E. Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the question of whether a statute mandating life in prison without the possibility of release is categorically barred by cruel punishment prohibitions where applied to a class of offenders: elderly defendants suffering from dementia.

- 1. Is this Court's review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to determine a significant issue of constitutional law, <u>i.e.</u> whether RCW 10.95.030(1), mandating life in prison without release, violates article I, section 14 and the Eighth Amendment, where applied to elderly defendants diagnosed with dementia?
- 2. Is this Court's review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the case involves an issue of substantial public interest, particularly given Washington's aging population?

¹ Moen's motion to extend time to file this Petition is currently pending before the Clerk of the Washington Supreme Court. (Appendix B).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Charges</u>

The State charged Cleon Moen with aggravated first-degree murder – DV, of his wife Michelle Moen. CP 46; RP 192. Moen pled not guilty and the case was tried by a jury.

2. <u>Undisputed Trial Evidence</u>

Undisputed evidence established the following. Moen was born in 1942 and had lived a crime-free life for over 70 years. RP 1547; CP 117. He and his wife Michelle had been happily married for 30 years. RP 804, 1236. Moen was a respected member of the community, a veteran, father, grandfather, and great-grandfather, and volunteer with the local Boy Scouts, veteran's group, and wild horses association. RP 803-05, 1135. After his son died of brain cancer, Moen began to exhibit personality and behavioral changes. RP 1142, 1180-82, 1336. Moen was treated for depression. RP 813. His wife suspected him of having an affair. RP 583-84, 815. Moen believed Michelle was suffering from mental illness. RP 814-15. They began to have marriage problems. RP 351.

In June 2014, police were called to the Moen residence to investigate a report of domestic violence. RP 266-67. Moen was arrested and charged with assault 4 – DV. RP 269; Exh. 213. Michelle testified against him at trial. RP 270, 279. The trial resulted in a hung jury. RP 279. Immediately

after the trial, Moen shot himself in the face with a shotgun in the court parking lot. RP 284-87. A suicide note to his family was later discovered, in which he pleaded with them to get help for Michelle because he believed she had mental health issues. RP 718-20, 812, 830. He was hospitalized and suffered substantial disfigurement. RP 1194-95.

Computerized Axial Tomography ("CAT" or "CT") scans of his brain were taken which showed no obvious brain injury from the gunshot wound, but did show general brain atrophy within normal parameters for his age, as well as more significant brain atrophy in the frontal lobes. RP 1191-92, 1194, 1200-01.

Divorce proceedings were initiated. RP 298-99. Occupancy of the family residence was awarded to Michelle and Moen moved out. Exh. 202; RP 291-92, 783-84, 1372. On September 5, Moen covertly entered the property, spent the night in his mother's trailer, and entered the residence the next morning when Michelle was out. RP 554-56, 932. He waited for her to return, assaulted her with an ax and his fists, and strangled her with a hair dryer cord and wire, resulting in her death. RP 554-56, 662-63, 904. He then attempted suicide by asphyxiation in a pumphouse behind the residence, but was arrested and hospitalized. RP 78, 556.

In a recorded statement, Moen told police, "[I]t's all premeditated, I planned the whole fucking thing." RP 932.

3. <u>Disputed Evidence of Mental Infirmity</u>

The primary issue in dispute was Moen's mental state at the time of the crime. The defense argued for diminished capacity on the basis of a dementia diagnosis. RP 1515. The State argued Moen was capable of intent and premeditation. RP 1523-24, 1533-34.

Defense expert Dr. Hasan Ozgur, a medical physician who specialized in radiology, testified that he observed frontal lobe atrophy in the CAT scans of Moen's brain, and this was an indicator of dementia. RP 1195-96. However, he stated that as a radiologist, he was not qualified to diagnose Moen with dementia, particularly without more information regarding Moen's behavior. RP 1200-01.

Defense expert Dr. Robert Stanulis, a psychologist specializing in gerontology, diagnosed Moen with frontal temporal dementia. RP 800, 810, 812. He explained frontal temporal dementia affects the frontal lobes, and symptoms involve personality changes, a lack of empathy, and less obvious short-term memory and learning problems. RP 818. Dr. Stanulus testified that Moen was perseverating or obsessing over the idea that he had to harm his wife in order to get her taken to the hospital to obtain treatment for her mental illness, and that this was an example of the "disordered thinking" typical of a diagnosis of frontal temporal dementia. RP 822-24, 827.

The CAT scan showing frontal lobe atrophy, Moen's family members' observations regarding changes in behavior, and Michelle's accusations of an affair all supported the diagnosis. RP 806-07, 810. Dr. Stanulis testified that in his opinion, Moen's mental illness was the source of his diminished capacity, and also Moen objectively did not have a premeditated intent to kill Michelle, only a delusional intent to harm her in order to help her. RP 831-32. Dr. Stanulis believed Moen told police the killing was premeditated because it furthered his original plan of suicide; having been interrupted by police, he hoped to commit suicide at the hands of the State via the death penalty. RP 828; also RP 102.

Moen's daughter testified that in 2014, she believed her father was having a "complete psychotic break" after his release from the hospital for self-inflicted gunshot wounds. RP 1176. She noted other behaviors that were out of character, including his requests for gambling money. RP 1182. Neighbors and friends similarly testified they were shocked to learn of Moen's suicide attempt outside the courthouse, because it was totally out of character. <u>E.g.</u> RP 1081, 1100.

The State offered the testimony of Dr. Ray Hendrickson, a forensic psychologist at Western State Hospital, as a rebuttal witness. RP 1277-1364. Dr. Hendrickson stated in his report there was "ample information" to suggest Moen was suffering at the time of the offense from "symptoms

of depressive disorder or mood dysregulation and possible symptoms of a neurocognitive disorder." RP 1340. He conducted a diminished capacity evaluation of Moen and ultimately diagnosed him with "adjustment disorder" and made a "historic diagnosis of major depressive disorder" that was in remission at the time of the evaluation. RP 1295-96.

Dr. Hendrickson testified Moen displayed no indication of dementia, which he initially defined as "overall memory difficulty." RP 1297. However, Dr. Hendrickson later agreed that the medical community recognized several types of dementia with a wide variety of symptoms, including neurocognitive impairment, interference with the organization of thoughts and thought processes, difficulty with language (i.e. "aphasia"), poor judgment, underestimation of risks, aggression and frustration, suicidal tendencies, lack of inhibition leading to inappropriate comments and behaviors, delusions involving themes of persecution, and personality changes, among others. RP 1348-55. He also agreed that while dementia is progressive overall, individuals with dementia often will move in and out of lucidity and coherence. RP 1357. Dr. Hendrickson also agreed that dementia is most often, though not exclusively, associated with the elderly. RP 1354. Finally, he agreed that even professionals have difficulty differentiating between individuals with major depressive disorder and those with dementia, particularly as the two often occur together. RP 1355.

Dr. Hendrickson explained Moen "certainly wasn't saddened by ... how he described the event" but rather discussed it "matter-of-fact" except that he laughed at the police use of what he described as "this funny, little robot" that was sent into the pumphouse to look for him. RP 1308. Moen also varied his story only in minor details, including whether or not he acknowledged Michelle was deceased at the time he left for the pumphouse. RP 1309. Dr. Hendrickson testified that according to his notes, Moen's daughter, Shelly Moen, had told him Moen had been treated for depression, she had noticed changes in his behavior, and he was "saying weird ass shit," but that she worked with dementia patients as a nurse's assistant and did not believe Moen was demented. RP 1336-37. Shelly Moen testified she did not recall making any such statement to Dr. Hendrickson. RP 1185.

Ultimately, Dr. Hendrickson concluded that despite Moen's diagnoses, he retained the ability to intend, premeditate, and make adjustments to his plans, and so did not qualify for the diminished capacity defense under law. RP 1313-18, 1320-21.

4. <u>Closing Argument & Verdict</u>

In closing, the defense argued for a diminished capacity defense, that Moen's condition had interfered with his ability to form intent or premeditated intent. RP 1513-14. The defense also argued Moen did not intend to kill Michelle, only to harm her as a result of his delusional belief

that Michelle, not he, suffered from mental illness, and the only way to get her help was to injure her enough that she would need to be treated at a hospital. RP 1508-09.

The State countered that the jury need not decide whether Moen had a mental illness. RP 1484. Where Moen was of sufficiently sound mind to understand, intend and premeditate the killing, a diminished capacity defense should be rejected, despite any mental health diagnoses. RP 1523-24, 1533-34.

The jury rejected Moen's diminished capacity defense and found him guilty of aggravated first-degree murder-DV. RP 1536-37; CP 103-06.

5. <u>Sentencing Hearing</u>

At sentencing, the State argued that because it was not seeking the death penalty, the statute required a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of release. RP 1568-69 (citing RCW 10.95.030(1)). The defense agreed that the statute mandated life in prison without consideration of mitigating factors, but argued the statute as applied to Moen violated prohibitions on cruel punishment. RP 1581. Just as Washington jurisprudence required consideration of mitigating factors before sentencing a juvenile or person with intellectual disabilities to life in prison or death, constitutional protections required similar treatment of an elderly person with mental infirmities. RP 1581.

Several witnesses spoke on behalf of Michelle Moen. RP 1547-67. Moen allocuted in a rambling fashion, describing intimate details of his thirty-year marriage to Michelle, but did emphasize that he did not plan the killing. RP 1584-99.

The sentencing court noted it did not hear an apology or "any ounce of remorse" from Moen. RP 1600. Moen inappropriately interrupted the judge, saying, "I totally loved her." RP 1600. The court disagreed stating, "That is not true." RP 1603.

The court noted that evidence of mental issues had been presented, but found "there is no ambiguity in the law." RP 1603. The Legislature had removed all discretion, and prohibited consideration of mitigating evidence in cases where the defendant did not have an intellectual disability (as defined per statute) and was not a juvenile. RP 1602-03. The court also concluded constitutional prohibitions on cruel punishment did not apply to cases with "a strong showing of premeditation and absolute lack of any compassion," and so the court lacked authority to consider mitigation. RP 1603.

The court stated Moen "paused, he thought calmly, and he took action" and concluded by stating he was "heartless, cowardly, small and savage," and had "zero right" to any freedom, and so was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole. RP 1603-04; CP 119. The

sentencing court remarked to Moen, "you rightfully will die in prison, cold and alone." RP 1603-04.

6. Appellate Arguments & Decision

On appeal, Moen argued the following. Where the State did not seek the death penalty, RCW 10.95.030 required imposition of a life sentence without the possibility of parole, and removed from the sentencing court any discretion to consider mitigating circumstances warranting a reduced sentence. Br. App. at 31. However, as applied to Moen, an elderly man suffering from age-related mental infirmities, this statute violates the Washington and federal constitutional prohibitions on cruel punishment. Br. App. at 31 (citing U.S. CONST., AMENDS. VIII, XIV; WASH. CONST., ART. I, § 14).

Although art. I, §14 is more protective, Washington Courts have borrowed from federal jurisprudence to establish frameworks to evaluate the State and federal prohibitions of "cruel" punishments. Br. App. at 31 (citing State v. Bassett, 198 Wn. App. 714, 733, 394 P.3d 430 (2017); State v. Manussier, 129 Wn.2d 652, 674, 921 P.2d 473 (1996) (additional citations omitted)). U.S. Supreme Court and Washington courts have recognized four broad categories of protected classes of offenders and sentences: persons with intellectual disabilities, juveniles, death penalty sentencing, and sentences to life in prison without the possibility of release.

Br. App. at 33. Elderly persons with age-related mental infirmities are a class of offender similarly situated to juveniles and persons with intellectual disabilities. <u>Id</u>. As such, art. I, §14 and the Eighth Amendment categorically bar the imposition of life in prison without the possibility of release on vulnerable elders with dementia. Id.

In the alternative, Moen argued at a minimum, courts must consider age and mental-health-related mitigating circumstances before imposing life without parole on individuals potentially belonging to this class. Id.

In response, the State argued Moen's sentence was not unconstitutional arguing (1) the correct standard to evaluate constitutionality is proportionality, and Moen's punishment was proportional to his crime, (2) the class of offenders identified by Moen is dissimilar to juveniles, and (3) Moen's claim to dementia was factually weak. Br. Resp. at 34-35.

The State emphasized that juveniles have the capacity to reform their character whereas those with dementia do not. Br. Resp. at 38-40, 47-48. The State argued proportionality analysis should apply, not the categorical bar approach, which it argued was relevant only to juveniles. Br. Resp. at 43-44. Applying a proportionality analysis, the State also reasoned "unlike a juvenile for whom a sentence of life without parole may

be considered especially harsh, the older an adult is, the less harsh such a sentence would be." Br. Resp. at 45.

In response to Moen's two-step categorical bar analysis, the State argued where there is no national consensus recognizing elders with dementia as a protected class, the sentence could not offend Washington's Constitution. Br. Resp. at 47. The State relied on selected trial testimony to argue where there was no evidence of memory loss, Moen did not have dementia, and the jury agreed because it rejected his diminished capacity claim. Br. Resp. at 48.

In his Reply Brief, Moen argued recent jurisprudence requires consideration of mitigating circumstance for juveniles and suggests this reasoning extends to adults with broadly defined intellectual disabilities. Br. App. at 6. Taken together, the recent decisions provide strong support for the proposition that sentencing courts must, at a minimum, consider mitigating evidence before sentencing anyone potentially belonging to a vulnerable class to life in prison without parole. Br. App. at 6 (citing State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 21, 24-26, 391 P.3d 409 (2017); see In re Personal Restraint of Davis, 188 Wn.2d 356, 362-67, 395 P.3d 998 (2017)). In Davis, the U.S. Supreme Court held Washington's overly restrictive definition intellectual of disability was potentially unconstitutional, but found the sentence valid where the jury considered his

<u>Davis</u>, 188 Wn.2d at 362-67). In <u>Houston-Sconiers</u>, this Court held sentencing courts "must consider mitigating qualities of youth at sentencing" and have discretion to deviate from statutory sentencing ranges and sentencing enhancements. Br. App. at 6-7 (citing <u>Houston-Sconiers</u>, 188 Wn.2d at 21, 24-26.

In response to the State, Moen argued juveniles and elderly share many traits in common. Br. App. at 7-9. Advanced age is often accompanied by a decline in mental capacity, and in a non-trivial number of cases, dementia affecting personality, judgment, and other higher-order brain functions. Br. App. at 9. Moen reasoned it is undisputed there are exceptions. Br. App. at 10. Some individuals are mentally sharp into their hundreds, just as some 10-year-olds possess exceptional maturity. Br. App. at 10. This does not negate the reality that youth is often accompanied by a lack of maturity and advanced age is often associated with declining mental capacity. Br. App. at 10.

Courts have balanced this reality with the variety of individual human experiences. Br. App. at 10. The result has been a categorical bar of extreme sentences—the death penalty and life in prison without the possibility of release—coupled with a requirement that in all other cases, sentencing courts must give meaningful consideration to age-related

characteristics, regardless of statutory mandates. Br. App. at 10. (citing Roper, 543 U.S. at 568; Bassett, 198 Wn.2d at 743; O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 698-99).

Moen argued this Court should, at a minimum, adopt the approach used in O'Dell, and determine first whether a defendant potentially belongs to a particular class warranting protection, and second, must consider the defendant's related mitigating circumstances. Br. App. at 10-11 (O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 698-99). Such an approach would also avoid the problem of an overly rigid definition for the class "elderly," given that strict class definitions have been found constitutionally problematic. Br. App. at 10 (citing Hall v. Florida, ___ U.S. ____, 134 S. Ct. 1986, 188 L. Ed. 2d 1007 (2014) (holding intellectual disability could not be rigidly defined)).

Moen also argued the jury's rejection of his diminished capacity defense did not preclude his dementia diagnosis. The jury was asked to answer whether he retained the capacity to form premeditated intent. Br. App. at 11-12. Expert testimony at trial supported the conclusion that Moen's mental condition did not <u>interfere</u> with his capacity to form premeditated intent, but rather <u>caused</u> him to form intent to harm his wife out of a delusional belief that it was necessary to get her medical help. Br. App. at 12 (citing RP 810-12). There was ample evidence in the record of Moen's frontal lobe dementia diagnosis and its effects on his high-order

reasoning, yet the court declined to consider any mitigating circumstances at sentencing. Br. App. at 17.

Division Two affirmed Moen's sentence. <u>State v. Moen</u>, 4 Wn. App. 2d 589, 592, 422 P.3d 930 (2018). The court did not reach the federal claim and reasoned art. I, § 14 does not categorically bar the sentencing of a defendant with dementia to life in prison without release. <u>Id</u>. at 597.

The court rejected the State's reasoning that the proportionality test should apply. <u>Id.</u> at 600 (citing <u>State v. Fain</u>, 94 Wn.2d 387, 617 P.2d 720 (1980)). Under step one of the categorical bar approach, the court determined there was no national consensus that the elderly, infirm, or dementia patients could not be sentenced to death or life in prison. <u>Id.</u> at 601-02. The court briefly relied on the jury's rejection of Moen's diminished capacity defense at trial, and summarily dismissed his claim that dementia patients as a class are less morally culpable than other adult offenders. Id. at 601-02.

The court then distinguished elderly dementia patients as a class from juveniles, reasoning there was no evidence of reduced culpability or ability to reform. <u>Id</u>. at 602. The court rejected comparison of the class with intellectual disabilities, reasoning that line of cases applied only to the death penalty. <u>Id</u>. at 603.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THIS COURT'S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO DETERMINE WHETHER CRUEL PUNISHMENT PROTECTIONS PRECLUDE THE IMPOSITION OF MANDATORY LIFE SENTENCES ON ELDERLY PERSONS WITH DEMENTIA.

This case presents the issue of whether cruel punishment prohibitions articulated in article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution and the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, categorically bar the mandatory imposition of a life sentence without the possibility of release on an elderly person with dementia.

Under the theory articulated by the State and accepted by the court of appeals, the trial court's sentencing of Moen to life in prison without the possibility of release, where he "rightfully will die in prison, cold and alone," was a constitutionally valid sentence. RP 1603-04 (quote from sentencing court). This is despite significant expert testimony at trial establishing that while Moen was still capable of planning and intending the crime (and so, as the jury found, he did not qualify for a diminished capacity defense), his motivation to commit the crime arose out of his dementia.

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