FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/4/2019 3:23 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 96393-2 C.O.A. No. 49474-4-II Cowlitz Co. Cause No. 15-1-01036-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

CLEON MOEN,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC BENTSON/WSBA#38471 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW	
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
V.		COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT PPEALS' DECISION
	A.	THE EVIDENCE DID NOT SUPPORT MOEN'S CLAIM THAT HE SUFFERED FROM DEMENTIA AND NO SUCH EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED AT HIS SENTENCING
	В.	MOEN'S CLAIM DOES NOT PRESENT A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE OR AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST 14
VI.	CON	CLUSION 20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

Cases
City of Bremerton v. Spears, 14 Wn.2d 141, 949 P.2d 347 (1998) 11
Coker v. Georgia, 433 U.S. 584, 97 S.Ct. 2861, 53 L.Ed.2d 982 (1977). 15
Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010)
Kadoranian v. Bellingham Police Dep't, 119 Wn.2d 178, 829 P.2d 1061)(1992)11
Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 128 S.Ct. 2641, 171 L.Ed.2d 525 (2008)
Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed. 407 (2012) 16
Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d. 1 (2005)
State v. Bassett, Wn.2d, 428 P.3d 343, 346 (2018)
State v. Bohanon, 62 Wn.App. 462, 814 P.2d 694 (1991)
State v. Cates, 183 Wn.2d 531, 354 P.3d 832 (2015)
State v. Dictado, 102 Wn.2d 277, 687 P.2d 172 (1984)
State v. Farmer, 116 Wn.2d 414,, 805 P.2d 200 (1991)
State v. Grisby, 97 Wn.2d 493, 647 P.2d 6 (1982)
State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)
State v. Harris, 106 Wn.2d 784, 725 P.2d 975 (1986)

State v. Link, 136 Wn. App. 685, 150 P.3d 616 (2007)
State v. MacKenzie, 114 Wn. App. 687, 60 P.3d 607 (2002)
State v. Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d 875, 329 P.3d 888 (2014)
Statutes
RCW 10.95.030
RCW 10.95.030(1)8
RCW 10.95.030(3)(b)
Other Authorities
Art. I, § 14 of the Washington State Constitution
Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(3)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Eric H. Bentson, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The outcome of the Court of Appeals' decision was correct. The Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of the July 31, 2018, Court of Appeals' decision in *State of Washington vs. Cleon Moen*, Court of Appeals No. 49474-4-II.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does Moen's petition raise a significant question of constitutional law or present a substantial issue of public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(3)(4), when the evidence did not support his claim of dementia and when he was not a child when he murdered his wife?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michelle Moen lived at 295 Robertson Road in Longview with her husband Cleon Moen. RP 334-35, 394-95. On June 16, 2014, Michelle called 911, and the Cowlitz County Sheriff's Office responded. RP 266-67, 394-95. Moen was arrested for fourth degree assault domestic violence. RP 269, 396. On November 10, 2014, the case proceeded to jury trial. Michelle testified as a witness for the State. RP 270, 278-79, 281-82. The jury was

unable to reach a verdict and a mistrial was declared. RP 279, 283. Moen obtained a shotgun and attempted suicide by shooting himself in the face. RP 284-86, 1219-20. Moen was unsuccessful. RP 737.

Michelle and Moen began divorce proceedings. RP 290, 337-38. In January 2015, Michelle was granted sole occupancy of the home at 295 Robertson Road. RP 290-91, 338. Moen moved into a residence at 610 Sightly Road in Toutle. RP 304, 338. During the divorce process, Moen felt he was being forced to pay double and stopped paying. RP 1259-60. Michelle's attorney filed a motion for a contempt hearing. RP 292-94, 297.

On September 3, 2015, Michael Gillman served Moen with notice of the hearing at 610 Sightly Road. RP 303-06, 1229. That night or early the next morning, Moen drove to Whitewater Road which was near, but out of sight of, 295 Robertson Road. RP 310-11, 354, 357, 363, 370. On September 5, 2015, Moen spent the night in a trailer behind the main residence at 295 Robertson Road. RP 649, 932, 1262. In the morning of September 6, 2015, Michelle left the home. RP 931-32, 1304. Moen snuck into the house and removed and loaded two handguns from a safe. RP 932, 1264-66. Moen brought a backpack that contained the contempt paperwork he had been served with. RP 1263. He also brought an axe and a stiff, red, heavy-gauge electrical wire. RP 880, 1263-64, 1269-70. Moen hid in a spare bedroom. RP at 932-33. When Michelle returned, Moen continued

to hide in the spare bedroom for about an hour. RP 933, 1304. Eventually, Michelle entered the bathroom. RP 929, 933.

Once Michelle was in the bathroom, Moen entered with the axe. RP 933. Moen struck Michelle in the head with the axe. RP 933, 1267. He then punched her repeatedly in the face. RP 933, 1267. They struggled on the bathroom floor. RP 942. In addition to her facial injuries, Michelle's arms were covered in bruises, and her ribs were broken. RP 1268. At one point during the struggle, Michelle told Moen she loved him; Moen responded by punching her in the face. RP 943. Michelle told Moen to let her live; Moen responded by telling her he was going to kill her. RP 934. After a 30-45 minute struggle, Moen got up on Michelle's shoulders and wrapped the heavy-gauge wire around her neck. RP 944-45. On the ends of the wire Moen had twisted thumb loops that allowed the ends to be pulled tightly in opposite directions. RP 1269. Moen pulled the wire around Michelle's neck, strangling her until she was dead. RP 945, 1269-70.

After killing Michelle, Moen went outside and backed Michelle's pickup truck up to a pumphouse on the property. RP 946, 1242. Moen attached an accordion-type dryer hose to the tailpipe of the truck and placed the other end in the pumphouse. RP 388, 1242. Moen turned on the truck ignition, entered the pumphouse, closed the door, and sat breathing in carbon monoxide in an attempt to kill himself. RP 580, 1242-43.

A neighbor discovered Moen in the pumphouse, and police were called. RP 388-89, 1243. Police arrived, apprehended Moen, and found Michelle's body on the bathroom floor with the stiff electrical wire still tightly around her neck. 398-410, 473, 481, 883. On the date of her death, Michelle was 57-years-old, and Moen was 73-years-old. RP 776, 1205. Moen was taken to the hospital and treated for carbon monoxide poisoning. RP 551, 573. Moen told police things had not been the same since his domestic violence arrest, and that he wanted to show Michelle what domestic violence really was. RP 552-53. He said the hung jury had not been good enough because he wanted to show Michelle what domestic violence looked like. RP 561. Moen said he would not let Michelle live because she "f***ing lies." RP 934. He said every time he closed his eyes he saw Michelle's bloody body and felt sick but then felt at peace. RP 619. He said he had a plan to tie Michelle up in the barn because that was where she had set him up. RP 582-83. Moen said he brought the wire to choke Michelle. RP 581. And, Moen stated: "It's all premediated, I planned the whole f***ing thing." RP 932.

Moen was charged with aggravated first degree murder – domestic violence. CP 46. The case proceeded to trial. During trial, Moen called radiologist Hazan Ozgur to testify about computerized tomography ("CT") scans he reviewed of Moen after his gunshot wound. RP 1186, 1192. Dr.

Ozgur testified that although these studies showed extensive injuries to Moen's face as a result of his gunshot wound, they showed no evidence of injury to his brain. RP 1196-97, 1200. Dr. Ozgur testified that while there was slight frontal substance loss to Moen's brain, it was "within normal limits" for a person Moen's age. RP 1200-01. Dr. Ozgur testified slight substance loss did not necessarily indicate a person had dementia, and he was not qualified to diagnose Moen with dementia. RP at 1201. Dr. Ozgur testified that a neurologist was required to diagnose a person with dementia based on a CT scan. RP 1197, 1201.

Neuropsychologist Robert Stanulis, who was not a neurologist, testified on Moen's behalf. RP 800. Although Dr. Stanulis conflated his experience with that of a medical doctor, he ultimately admitted that he did not have the necessary skills of a brain surgeon. RP 832. Dr. Stanulis diagnosed Moen with "frontal temporal dementia." RP 810. Yet, Dr. Stanulis admitted that Moen's CT scans "were not done for diagnosis of dementia" and did not show damage to his frontal lobes. RP 821. Further, Dr. Stanulis testified that dementia starts with short-term memory problems but did not describe Moen as having any short-term memory loss. RP 818.

Moen also called his friend, local physician Michael Grubbs as a witness. RP 1082-83. Dr. Grubbs visited Moen multiple times after his suicide attempt at the courthouse. RP 1087-89. In his practice Dr. Grubbs

had dealt with patients with dementia. RP 1090. Dr. Grubbs did not observe Moen to have any of the symptoms of dementia. RP 1090, 1092.

In rebuttal, the State called psychologist Ray Hendrickson from Western State Hospital regarding his evaluation of Moen for diminished capacity. RP 1277-78, 1281. Dr. Hendrickson noted that Moen had no evidence of delusions, and that his thought process was goal-directed, coherent, and rational. RP 1289-90. He also found Moen was logical and exhibited good formal judgment. RP 1291, 1293. Dr. Hendrickson observed Moen's memory was good after conducting tests on Moen's short-term and long-term memory. RP 1291-93. Based his interview of Moen, medical records, the reports of Dr. Ozgur and Dr. Stanulis, and the police reports, Dr. Hendrickson diagnosed Moen with depression. RP 1295.

Dr. Hendrickson did not diagnose Moen with dementia and saw no evidence of Moen suffering from dementia currently or on the date of the murder. RP 1297-98. Dr. Hendrickson explained that dementia means overall memory difficulty. RP 1297. Dr. Hendrickson also explained that the memory loss associated with dementia does not cause a person to lose the ability to form intent. RP at 1319-20. Dr. Hendrickson saw no indication of Moen having any memory problems. RP 1297. Dr. Hendrickson testified: "There were no symptoms of depression that significantly impaired his ability or capacity to form the intent, nor did any

symptoms that he might have had impair[] his ability to reflect or to premediate." RP at 1320-21. The jury found Moen guilty of aggravated murder in the first degree - domestic violence. RP 1536-37.

At sentencing, Moen's attorney argued that the statute requiring the court to sentence Moen to life without parole was unconstitutional because it did not consider mitigation based on advanced age and mental problems, but he did not specifically mention dementia during his in-court argument. RP 1581. Moen's attorney did not present any evidence of dementia at sentencing. RP 1581-83. Conversely, the State presented Dr. Hendrickson's report showing that Moen had the ability to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions. RP 1571, 1604. Prior to sentencing Moen, the court considered trial evidence of mental health issues and stated:

I do not find in my judgment that that comes near the position where a juvenile might be in their brain development or does it go to the level of intellectual disability that would be – would touch upon or even come close to violating the Eighth and the Fourteenth Amendments.

RP 1602. The court also considered Dr. Hendrickson's report, observing that Moen had completed a crime of planning to exact revenge, and that he paused, thought calmly, and took action. RP 1602-03. The court found the sentence required by the statute did not conflict with the constitution because there was "such a strong showing of premeditation and absolute

lack of any compassion or mercy or kindness." RP 1603. The court then sentenced Moen to life without the possibility of parole. RP 1603.

Despite failing to present any evidence of dementia at sentencing, Moen appealed, arguing his sentence of life without parole was categorically-barred as cruel punishment because he maintained that he belonged to a class labeled "elderly persons with age-related mental infirmities." Slip Opinion at 7 n.4. Moen maintained that he suffered from dementia and therefore belonged to this class. Moen reasoned that "elderly persons with age-related mental infirmities" who are convicted of aggravated first degree murder are like children; therefore they should be categorically-barred from being sentenced to life without the possibility of parole. The Court of Appeals rejected Moen's argument that the categorical bar of life without parole sentences for children should also be applied to him.¹ The court found Moen failed to meet his burden of showing RCW 10.95.030(1) was unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt; therefore, it affirmed his sentence of life without parole for the crime of aggravated murder in the first degree. Slip Opinion at 7, 13.

¹ Rather than address Moen's claim directly, the Court of Appeals elected to "address only the narrow issue of whether it is cruel to sentence a person diagnosed with dementia to mandatory life imprisonment without the possibility of parole." Slip Opinion at 7 n.4. Because the Court of Appeals held life without parole sentences are not categorically barred for those with dementia who commit aggravated murder in the first degree, it did not explore the issue of whether Moen was actually a member of the class he claims.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Because Moen's petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Moen claims his petition involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). While the Court of Appeals arrived at the correct conclusion in finding the categorical bar of life sentences without the possibility of parole for children should not be extended to all adults claiming dementia, it bypassed the issue of whether the evidence actually showed Moen had dementia at the time he committed the crime. Neither the facts of Moen's case nor the law he relies upon reach a constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest. His claim of dementia was weakly supported at trial and no

additional evidence was presented at sentencing. Further his reasoning based on *State v. Bassett*, --- Wn.2d ---, 428 P.3d 343, 346 (2018), ignores that *Bassett* is specific to the unique characteristics of children. Thus, his petition does not meet any of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

A. THE EVIDENCE DID NOT SUPPORT MOEN'S CLAIM THAT HE SUFFERED FROM DEMENTIA AND NO SUCH EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED AT HIS SENTENCING.

When he murdered his wife Moen did not have dementia; therefore, this Court should not render a decision on the application of the statute to those who actually suffer from dementia. "In order to challenge the constitutionality of a statute, the person challenging must show that the complained statute has operated to his own prejudice." State v. Bohanon. 62 Wn.App. 462, 469, 814 P.2d 694 (1991) (citing State v. Farmer, 116 Wn.2d 414, 421, 805 P.2d 200 (1991)). Moen asserts that a sentence of life without the possibility of parole for a person who commits aggravated murder in the first degree is cruel punishment if that person has dementia. However, despite arguing his sentence is unconstitutional on this basis, Moen presented no evidence that he suffered from dementia at sentencing. Further, at trial there was minimal evidence that Moen suffered from dementia, and this evidence was strongly rebutted. Accordingly, the facts of Moen's case do not present a constitutional issue or a substantial issue of public interest for this Court to review.

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